STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Abbeville County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 13 2018

THE STATE,

SC Court of Appeals
RESPONDENT,

V.

GEORGE ANTHONY CLARK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001861

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by refusing to redact from appellant's interview with the police his conversation about possibly pleading guilty to save the child the trauma of a trial, and his discussion of drug use, since appellant did not admit his guilt, and under Rule 403, SCRE, even if relevant, these statements were unduly prejudicial or they would be confusing and misleading to the jury, and where the court also on the "drugs statements" abdicated its discretionary authority by reasoning because appellant "said it" during the interview that the statements were admissible?

2.

Whether the court erred by refusing to redact the vast majority of the forensic interview once it determined it was admissible, since the child talking about what she enjoyed doing, and about others in her life did were irrelevant to her allegation that appellant improperly touched her, since the rules of evidence still apply to a forensic interview, and the use of these overwhelmingly irrelevant matters the child discussed during the forensic interview impermissibly invited a verdict on the impermissible basis of sympathy or empathy?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Abbeville County Grand Jury for the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 217 – 218. His case was called to trial on August 28, 2017, before the Honorable Donald Hocker, and a jury. Janna Nelson and Kami Granade represented appellant. Yates Brown and Micah Black were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On August 30, 2017, the jury found appellant guilty. R. 213, ll. 15-20. Judge Hocker sentenced appellant to fifteen years imprisonment. R. 215, ll. 19-24.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by refusing to redact from appellant's interview with the police his conversation about possibly pleading guilty to save the child the trauma of a trial, and his discussion of drug use, since appellant did not admit his guilt, and under Rule 403, SCRE, even if relevant, these statements were unduly prejudicial or they would be confusing and misleading to the jury, and where the court also on the "drugs statements" abdicated its discretionary authority by reasoning because appellant "said it" during the interview that the statements were admissible.

Introduction

This case involves an allegation by a ten-year-old girl, that appellant, his aunt's boyfriend, "inappropriately" touched her while she lay on the couch in her aunt's small trailer while her mother slept very nearby on another couch in the same room. Appellant voluntarily went to the police station, was interviewed, and released. This appeal involves the trial judge's refusal to redact inadmissible statements from appellant's interview, and from the child's forensic interview.

Relevant facts

Defense counsel Nelson told the judge appellant was not in custody at the time he was interviewed by Sergeant Ashley. Appellant told Sergeant Ashley he did not want to waive all of his rights but that he was willing to talk. R. 5, l. 12 – 8, l. 20.

Nelson said only about three minutes of the interview were "relevant and probative" -- which is when appellant talked about what he was doing at the time the child claimed appellant improperly touched her. Counsel cited Rule 403, SCRE, on the probative value of the evidence

being substantially outweighed by their undue or unfair prejudice in support of her argument. R. 8, l. 21 – 10, l. 8; R. 27, l. 12 – 28, l. 10.

The judge said that “he, you know, has to live with what he voluntarily said. Of course, certainly I -- I have to be mindful of those things, even though he voluntarily said it. It may be so prejudicial that it needs to be redacted.” Appellant never admitted his guilt during this interview, and it was largely a stream of consciousness rambling. R. 16, l. 16 – 17, l. 12.

Defense counsel Nelson noted petitioner’s discussion of a guilty plea as a matter that needed to be redacted from the interview. This included a discussion about appellant stating he wanted to save the child the trauma of testifying. R. 18, l. 3 – 20, l. 23.

The assistant solicitor asserted that the jury could interpret appellant talking about the possibility of a guilty plea as “guilty knowledge” on his part, and he claimed the same was true of appellant’s statements about saving the child the trauma of going to counselling. R. 18, l. 3 – 20, l. 23.¹

Defense counsel Nelson then argued that appellant’s statements about being drugged and the paperwork from South Regional Hospital listing all the drugs that were allegedly in his system should also be redacted. R. 24, l. 12 – 26, l. 23. The judge stated: “[i]f he felt like he was drugged, the fact he may be in error based upon some medical records, I think he’s -- *he’s got to live with it. I think he’s got to live with the statement.*” R. 26, ll. 15-23.

The solicitor said he thought the “drugs discussion” was admissible because it “sounds like an excuse” and “almost like it was an intoxication excuse.” Defense counsel said the

¹ Defense counsel argued Relevance and the unduly prejudicial effect substantially outweighing the probative value under Rule 403, SCRE. The judge rejected other arguments that appellant discussing pleading guilty constituted “plea negotiations” or offers to compromise under Rule 408, SCRE. The judge cited State v. Compton, 366 S.C. 671, 623 S.E.2d 661 (2005), which pertained to Rule 410, SCRE, on discussions of a guilty plea not being admissible at trial. The judge also ruled that Rule 408, SCRE, was not applicable. R. 20, l. 24 – 24, l. 6.

defense was not offering an involuntary intoxication defense, and that under Rule 403, SCRE, that section of the interview “would be confusing and misleading to the jury” pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. R. 26, l. 4 – 28, l. 10.

State’s Exhibit 4, appellant’s interview with Sergeant Ashley, is on file with this Court for viewing. As to the matters that the judge refused to redact, appellant talks about pleading guilty even though he was not guilty. He talks about not wanting to put the child “through it,” and not wanting the child to have to testify. Appellant denied committing the crime, and he talks about pleading guilty to the charge, and that even if it cost him his freedom, he loved “the kids,” and was “willing to do this.”

As to drugs, appellant mentions cocaine, crack cocaine, and barbiturates. Appellant also talks about the hospital report recording the fact that he was apparently “drugged.” As stated, there was discussion that appellant misunderstood the hospital report.

As seen, the judge reasoned that even if appellant was not on drugs, appellant talked about it during the interview and therefore he should have to “live with it,” which was an abdication of the judge’s discretionary authority to redact irrelevant or unduly prejudicial or confusing and misleading matters under the Rule 403, SCRE, standard.

In his closing argument the solicitor twice showed the jury portions of appellant’s interview. He claimed and emphasized that appellant talking about a guilty plea showed his “guilty conscience.” R. 182, l. 1 – 183, l. 5.

Discussion

Appellant never admitted his guilt during the interview. Yet, as seen above, the solicitor hoped the jury would pile inference upon inference and conclude appellant was somehow admitting his guilt during this rambling discussion.

Defense counsel Nelson correctly argued that under Rule 403, SCRE, any probative value appellant's statements about pleading guilty to save the child the trauma of trial were substantially outweighed by their unfair prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE.

Relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. See Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 535 S.E.2d 119 (2000); State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 404 S.E.2d 146 (1991).

The court reasoned that although appellant did not admit his guilt, he had to "live with" what he said to the sergeant during the interview. Respectfully, this sets a dangerous precedent of the state playing a non-inculpatory statement by a criminal defendant because it hopes that the defendant will "look bad" or acts "suspiciously" during the interview or interrogation, and urge the jury, as the solicitor did here in closing, to convict the defendant by piling inference upon inference onto his statements which do not admit guilt. That, respectfully, should be the heart of undue prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE. Cf. State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 759 S.E.2d 160 (2014).

Further, appellant's statements about being "drugged" or on drugs should have been redacted since they had the tendency -- as defense counsel argued -- to mislead or confuse the jury under Rule 403, SCRE. Defense counsel correctly argued there was no defense of involuntary intoxication involved in this case, drug use was not being offered as an "excuse," and appellant was also apparently in error about the hospital records recording certain drugs in appellant's system.

The judge abdicated his discretionary authority when he reasoned that appellant had to "live with" what he said during the interview. In State v. Alexander, 309 S.C. 495, 424 S.E.2d 526 (Ct.App. 1992), this Court reversed the trial judge where he ruled he did not have the

discretion to sentence the defendants to YOA sentences, where he, in fact, did have the discretion to impose YOA sentences. Here, the judge incorrectly reasoned that appellant had no complaint about evidence being admitted about his drug use where he admitted, correctly or incorrectly, during the interview, that he was “drugged” or using drugs. Such matters are often redacted from a defendant’s statement even where he makes inculpatory statements about the charged crime. See, also State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012) (inherent authority or discretion to ensure a fair trial).

Further, using the drugs appellant talked about during the interview was an admission to committing a totally unrelated crime. Moreover, a close degree of similarity or connection between the prior bad act and the crime for which the defendant is on trial is required to support admissibility under the common scheme or plan exception. State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 504 S.E.2d 324 (1998); State v. Parker, 315 S.C. 230, 433 S.E.2d 831 (1993).

Here, there was no connection, and the judge erroneously reasoned that because appellant “said it,” he had to, in the parlance of our time -- “own it.” That was prejudicial error. For the reasons above, appellant should be granted a new trial.

The court erred by refusing to redact the vast majority of the forensic interview once it determined it was admissible, since the child talking about what she enjoyed doing, and about others in her life did were irrelevant to her allegation that appellant improperly touched her, since the rules of evidence still apply to a forensic interview, and the use of these overwhelmingly irrelevant matters the child discussed during the forensic interview impermissibly invited a verdict on the impermissible basis of sympathy or empathy.

Relevant facts

Defense counsel argued that only about nine minutes of the forensic interview actually addressed the “incident in question.” Defense counsel argued that the first “sixteen, seventeen minutes of the video, we would move that that all be redacted, the portion about the family, the portion about what she likes to do at recess and in her spare time.” R. 37, l. 5 – 41, l. 19.

The judge stated he was not going to redact the interview other than “where she states concerning the rules and telling the truth.” The judge said he would also redact the child crying during the interview. The judge refused to redact from the forensic interview the child talking about what she liked to do in her spare time, and other matters about her and her family that were irrelevant to the accusations she made against appellant. R. 37, l. 5 – 43, l. 6.

Other than the portion of the interview about the importance of telling the truth, and the child crying, the judge ruled: **“I’m going to allow everything else.”** R. 41, l. 20 – 43, l. 6. (emphasis added).

The forensic interview is on file with this Court. As this Court will see, the child talks about how she likes to dance and sing. The child also talks about “girly songs,” and her favorite song.

The child also talks about playing “windmill,” and doing pull-ups on a bar. She is questioned about playing gymnastics.

The forensic interviewer then asks the child to “tell me about your family.” The child explains that her mother and father do not hit each other but there was some “fussing” between them. The child says she has learned that drugs were “bad,” and that she had seen the appellant smoking cigarettes, and she had seen her aunt drink beer. The child also said both her mother and father would spank her for misbehaving.

Defense counsel and the judge had both watched the forensic interview in its entirety. Defense counsel, respectfully, correctly argued that all the matters above in the interview were irrelevant, and should be redacted.

Trial testimony

The child was ten-years-old “almost eleven” at the time of the trial. R. 55, l. 20 – 56, l. 12. Both of her parents were in the courtroom and she told the jury she had one brother who was five years younger than her. R. 56, l. 13 – 57, l. 3.

The child testified that the alleged touching incident by appellant happened at her Aunt Frankie’s house in Abbeville. Appellant was her aunt’s boyfriend. R. 57, l. 4 – 58, l. 4. She called appellant “Ant.” She alleged appellant touched her “inappropriately” while she was “sleeping on my aunt’s couch.” R. 58, ll. 17-24.

The child said that her mother and brother also spent the night there. The child slept on the couch and her mother “was across from me.” Her brother was “on the same couch [with their mother] . . . across from me.” R. 60, ll. 7-20. The child claimed that appellant touched her “on my chest and in my underwear.” She claimed, “I told him to go down the hall and go to sleep.” The child maintained that appellant went down the hall but she claimed he came back and

touched her underneath her underwear. R. 61, l. 9 – 62, l. 24. Appellant then “went down the hall and went to sleep.” R. 62, ll. 23-25.

The child asked her mother if she could sleep on the couch with her, and told her mother how appellant allegedly touched her. She testified that her mother talked to appellant, appellant denied the allegations, and that her Aunt Frankie then took appellant back “to his mom’s house.” R. 63, l. 5 – 64, l. 23.

The child said she had a “really good bond together” with appellant, and that he played with her and her brother. R. 64, ll. 10-23.

On cross-examination, the child admitted her mother and brother slept close to her on the other couch when appellant allegedly touched her. She did not tell her mother after the “first time” appellant allegedly touched her that evening. R. 70, ll. 8-25. The next morning the police were called. R. 74, ll. 5-21.

The child’s mother, Ms. Jones, testified that they had a “sewer line backed up” in December of 2015, and therefore they stayed with the child’s Aunt Frankie. R. 78, l. 2 – 80, l. 25. Ms. Jones remembered that the incident allegedly happened on April 22, 2016. She said she was awakened by the child that night, and told “Ant keeps coming in here touching me.” R. 81, l. 4 – 84, l. 10. Ms. Jones said she was told of the alleged touching at 2:34 a.m.

Ms. Jones said she was not even aware appellant had entered the trailer before her daughter made these accusations. R. 84, l. 4 – 87, l. 4. Ms. Jones recalled that appellant told her he would not do something like that to the child, and “that he loves us, he loves my kids.” Ms. Jones said the child screamed at appellant, “You did touch me. You came in here twice and touched me.” R. 87, ll. 1-16.

Discussion

South Carolina Code § 17-23-175 governs the admissibility of forensic interviews of a child under twelve, after the factors determining trustworthiness are determined outside the presence of the jury by the judge. These factors include “whether the statement represents a detailed account of the alleged offense, and whether the statement has internal coherence.” See S.C. Code § 17-23-175(B)(3) & (4).

Here, defense counsel correctly argued that only a small portion of the forensic interview dealt with the specific incident or allegation involved in this case. The remainder -- the vast majority -- of the forensic interview was irrelevant. This included what the child enjoyed doing: Dancing, singing, playing gymnastics, playing windmill, and doing pull-ups on a bar. The child also talked about drugs being bad, seeing appellant smoking cigarettes, her aunt drinking beer, her mother and father “fussing” but not fighting, and getting spanked by both her mother and father.

Respectfully, the legislature did not mean for the forensic interview statute, 17-23-175, to license a videotaped discussion with a child about what he or she enjoyed doing in their life, and about his or her family life, and other matters totally unrelated to the allegation in question. Such a videotape, as the one in this case, can only cause a normal juror to relate, empathize, or have sympathy for the child on the videotape. That is respectfully wholly improper.

It is elementary that the state should avoid appealing to the sympathy or passion of jurors. See State v. Crosby, 348 S.C. 387, 559 S.E.2d 352 (Ct. App. 2001) (closing argument that a not guilty verdict would give the defendant “a license to kill” was improper but remedied by a curative instruction that defense counsel did not object too).²

² Rev’d on other grounds State v. Crosby, 355, S.C. 47, 584 S.E.2d 110 (2003).