ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Abbeville County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Tracking No. 2017-001861

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

George Anthony Clark,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

NOV 09 2018

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SC Court of Appeals

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Abbeville County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court properly concluded the portions of Appellant's statement to police were relevant and not unduly prejudicial. As a result, the trial court properly admitted his statements regarding his willingness to plead and his attempt to establish an involuntary intoxication defense. Even if admitted in error, any possible error was harmless.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to redact additional portions of Appellant's recorded interview with Sergeant Ashley. He maintains his statements regarding a willingness to plead guilty and explaining his understanding of drugs in his system found after checking himself into a hospital should have been excluded. Initially, he waived any argument regarding the redaction of his willingness to plead because he brought out the issue on cross-examination of Sergeant Ashley. Additionally, both statements were relevant and probative of Appellant's guilt. Further, any prejudice from playing Appellant's own statements did not significantly outweigh their probative value. As a result, the trial court properly admitted the interview and did not need to redact the statements.

Waiver

Initially, Appellant waived any argument with regard to his willingness to plead as he elicited testimony regarding Appellant's statements during his cross-examination of Sergeant Ashley. Even if a party raises an objection during trial and the objection is overruled, a party may still waive his right to argue error in regard to that objection on appeal under certain circumstances. See State v. O'Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously-raised objection can be waived). Significantly, a party can waive an objection to an issue by eliciting similar testimony to previously objected-to testimony without reserving that earlier objection. See State v. McKinney, 258 S.C. 570, 571, 190 S.E.2d 30, 30 (1972) ("During

the course of the trial certain testimony was admitted over the objection of [McKinney's] counsel. Thereafter, counsel for [McKinney] cross-examined the witness thereabout without reserving the objection previously made. The objection was thereby lost and if any error had been committed in the admission of the testimony it was cured."'). In the instant case, while Appellant objected to the portion of the interview in which Appellant discusses his willingness to plead guilty, he later elicited the following testimony from Sergeant Ashley regarding that same testimony:

Q. And he said several times that he didn't commit the crime?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. But he would plead to protect Dlaziah?

A. Correct.

Q. And you, in fact, encouraged him not to plead if he was, in fact, not guilty?

A. Correct.

Q. And here we are at trial, right?

A. Yes, ma'am.

(T.184-185; R.125). By eliciting this testimony, Appellant waived any argument regarding its inadmissibility. See McKinney, 258 S.C. at 571, 190 S.E.2d at 30.

Merits

Pursuant to Rule 401, SCRE: "'Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Additionally: "All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by

the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is **substantially** outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added).

“Probative” means “[t]ending to prove or disprove.” Black’s Law Dictionary 1323 (9th ed., 2009). “Probative value” is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case. State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609–10, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014). “It is the weight that a piece of relevant evidence will carry in helping the trier of fact decide the issues.” Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. “[T]he more essential the evidence, the greater its probative value.” Id. (quoting United States v. Stout, 509 F.3d 796, 804 (6th Cir.2007)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Thus, a court analyzing probative value considers the importance of the evidence and the significance of the issues to which the evidence relates.” Gray, 408 S.C. 610, 759 S.E.2d 165.

Appellant complains about two main lines of questioning and statements in Appellant’s interview. First, he asserts his discussion of a willingness to plead guilty is unduly prejudicial and not relevant because it was not an admission. His willingness to plead guilty to a charge that would subject him to fifteen years in prison to prevent her from testifying is certainly relevant and a statement from which the jury is free to infer his guilt. Additionally, he makes it clear that he is willing to plead guilty if he would not have to go on the sex offender registry. This statement is also relevant and one which the jury may infer his understanding of what he did to the nine year old victim and his guilt of committing the actions. His statement he would accept a good deal to prevent the child victim from testifying, especially in light of his discussion of avoiding the sex offender registry and his willingness to accept even seven years in prison, is

certainly something the jury should be allowed to consider in determining Appellant's guilt of the crime of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the third degree.

Additionally, if this Court finds the statements are not probative of his knowledge of the incident and his guilt of the incident, then no prejudice could occur from the statements given his repeated denial of doing anything to the child and the fact that his counsel specifically used the statements regarding his willingness to plead to his benefit during trial. As a result, even if the evidence was not relevant to the issue of Appellant's knowledge and guilt then any error in admitting the statements was entirely harmless. See State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) ("Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.").

The second statements he argues should have been redacted concern his self-admission into the hospital with suicidal thoughts and his understanding of a report that he believed showed he had lots of different drugs in his system. The full context of this discussion is important because it is clearly an attempt to create an excuse for any behavior he may have committed when he arrived home from his brothers.

The victim's great aunt testified Appellant had been drinking before he arrived home and that she had picked him up around 1:00 am from his brother's apartment. In his interview he indicated he had to be picked up by the victim's great aunt because he had been hanging out with his brother. He indicated he was picked up late, around 12:30 or 1:00 am and that he had not been home that night. On the video, he then indicates: "I was drugged." Appellant explains he did not take the drugs that he believed were found in his system the day after the incident. He questioned how any of the drugs got into his system. (State's Exhibit 4). He then raises the

specter of whether the drugs he believed were found in his system would be used against him to say he committed the crime against the child victim.

As the solicitor noted, Appellant bringing up the drugs found in his system sounds as an excuse or a possible involuntary intoxication defense. He paints a picture of arriving late at night after hanging out with his brother, not knowing what happened to the child victim, and then finding out later he had been drugged without his knowledge. The jury is certainly entitled to consider his proposed excuse or defense to the crime in judging both his credibility as well as his guilt of the underlying charge.

As with the other statements, any possible error in admitting the statements made by Appellant would be entirely harmless. The jury did not convict him because he alleged he had drugs in his system and vehemently denied knowing how they got there. See Pagan, 369 S.C. at 212, 631 S.E.2d at 267 (“Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”).

Also, Appellant’s counsel apparently had the report from the doctor which, based on counsel’s assertions to the court, showed Appellant was not positive for any of the drugs he mentioned. (T.71-72; R.25-26). He cannot now claim the testimony was unduly prejudicial when he could have cured any possible prejudice by admitting the report and chose not to do so. See e.g., State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 632, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct created.”). The trial court properly allowed the portions of the interview into evidence because the jury could infer Appellant had knowledge of the crime and could infer his guilt of the crime after considering his statements. Even if improperly admitted, any error was entirely harmless.

II. The trial court properly admitted the portions of the interview which established the child's background and the res gestae of the crime. The background was important to assist the jury in understanding the family dynamics and placing the events in context. Further, any error in admitting the portions of the interview was entirely harmless.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in admitting portions of the forensic interview of the child victim because they were irrelevant or invited a verdict based on the impermissible basis of sympathy or empathy. The statements in the forensic interview included descriptions of the child's family life and whether improper touching of the child had ever occurred before. The portions of the interview were relevant to the case, presented the res gestae of the crime, and explained that only Appellant had impermissibly touched her dispelling any notion of a misidentification. Further, any possible error did not cause the jury to render its verdict based on sympathy or empathy with the child instead of based on the child's direct testimony explaining that Appellant rubbed her chest and vagina.

As discussed above, pursuant to Rule 401, SCRE: "'Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is **substantially** outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added).

"Probative" means "[t]ending to prove or disprove." Black's Law Dictionary 1323 (9th ed. 2009). "Probative value" is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case. State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609–10, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014). "It is the weight that a piece of relevant evidence will carry in helping the trier of fact decide the issues."

Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. “[T]he more essential the evidence, the greater its probative value.” Id. (quoting United States v. Stout, 509 F.3d 796, 804 (6th Cir.2007)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Thus, a court analyzing probative value considers the importance of the evidence and the significance of the issues to which the evidence relates.” Gray, 408 S.C. 610, 759 S.E.2d 165.

“Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir.1993)). “[A]ll evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.” United States v. Rodriguez–Estrada, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir.1989). “The term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 180, 117 S.Ct. 644, 650, 136 L.Ed.2d 574, 587–88 (1997).

In the instant case, the testimony by the child victim during her forensic interview was certainly relevant and should have been considered by the jury. Her testimony established the background context for the crime. She detailed who she lived with, the types of interactions she had with the various family members, and allowed the jury to understand the context in which she was making the allegations against Appellant. The background information served almost as *res gestae* testimony. It provided the “factual context” to the jury of who was involved and how things occurred. See e.g., State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370 (1996) (finding testimony proper where it “furnishes part of the context of the crime” or is necessary to

a “full presentation” of the case). As Old Chief indicates, the State is entitled to paint the picture of the crime and to provide the jury with a full understanding of what occurred. Old Chief, 519 U.S. at 187 (“Evidence thus has force beyond any linear scheme of reasoning, and as its pieces come together a narrative gains momentum, with power not only to support conclusions but to sustain the willingness of jurors to draw the inferences, whatever they may be, necessary to reach an honest verdict.”). The trial court properly allowed the background information into the record, just as he properly allowed it from the witness stand when the child victim testified. (T.113-116; R.55-58). The jury is not required to decide the case in a complete vacuum devoid of an understanding of who the participants are and their roles in the victim’s life.

Additionally, Appellant complains on appeal about her discussion with the interviewer about punishments she receives from her parents, the interactions between her parents, the child victim’s knowledge of drugs, and seeing Appellant smoke cigarettes and drink beer. At trial Appellant never asserted these discussions should be redacted on the basis of relevance or prejudice. As a result, this assertion is not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

The discussions complained did not impact the jury or appeal to the sympathy or emotion of the jurors such that their verdict was compromised. It is illogical to believe a jury convicted Appellant because the child victim talked about her family background or that she had seen Appellant smoke a cigarette or drink a beer. None of the discussions, even if irrelevant, prejudiced Appellant such that their admission warrants a reversal and grant of a new trial. See Pagan, 369 S.C. at 212, 631 S.E.2d at 267 (“Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Error is harmless beyond a

reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”). The trial court did not abuse his wide discretion in denying Appellant’s motion to redact the forensic interview when much of what was discussed provided needed context to the jury and none of the discussions could reasonably have prejudiced Appellant.

CONCLUSION